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I. NATURE OF ACTION; INTRODUCTION 

This is an action under the False Claims Act brought by qui tam Relators Matt Paige and 

James Gammon in the name of the United States Government, to recover penalties and 

damages for the United States from Defendant BAE Systems, Inc. (hereinafter referred to 

as BAE) arising from Defendant BAE's false statements regarding the billing of the 

United States Government at BAE Systems in Warren, Michigan, and, on information 

and belief, on the billing processes and procedures relating to BAE's billings on contracts 

with the United States Government throughout the United States of America. The 

Defendant BAE Systems, in changing time sheets relating to the individual hours that 

were being worked on various Government projects, in obtaining contracts with the 

Government, and in the submissions of its bills to the United States, made false 

statements, and falsely certified that the hours worked, as well as the manner in which 

said contracts were obtained, met all applicable requirements on these contracts. Further, 

the Defendant, through its agents/employees fraudulently obtained and used leaked 

proprietary data and information from employees of the Government at TACOM on 

closed bid contracts, and used this proprietary information to successfully bid on 

Government contracts. 

Further, the Defendant with its falsification of records, its violations of the 

bidding process on closed contracts and in witness suppression and intimidation through 

its agents, servants and employees, also participated in a criminal enterprise in violation 
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of the RICO statute relating to operating a criminal enterprise engaged in or affecting 

interstate or foreign commerce within the meaning of 18 U,S.C, §1962, 

In addition to this qui tam claim on behalf of the United States Government, the 

Relators are bringing this action on their own behalf as well - for retaliation, harassment, 

a hostile work environment, and threats from their superiors at BAE Systems, Inc, 

relating to their termination for cooperating with investigative authorities from the 

Criminal Investigation Division of the US, and as the result of their efforts to report 

these violations internally at BAE by contacting the Human Relations and Ethics sections 

at various levels of BAE's corporate structure, 

II. PARTIES 

I, The Relators bring this action on behalf of the United States Army and the Tank

automotive and Armaments Command (TACOM) of the United States Army. TACOM is 

responsible for generating war fighting capability, sustaining war fighting readiness, and 

managing a very significant piece of the Army's investment in war fighting capacity, 

TACOM is the integrator of 3,200 weapon systems that form the core of the Army's war 

fighting capability, The action also is brought on behalf of other military command and 

support centers as well, under contract for work performed by BAE Systems, and at 

which the same type offalse billing practices are being conducted, 

2, The Relator Matt Paige is a retired Major in the United States Army and is an adult 

resident of Warren, Michigan and a citizen of the United States, At the time of the False 

Claims acts alleged herein, Mr, Paige was serving as the Program Manager on a project at 

BAE's facilities in Warren Michigan The Relator James Gammon is an adult resident of 

Warren, Michigan and a citizen ofthe United States, At the time of the False Claims acts 
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alleged herein, Mr. Gammon was serving as Senior Illustrator, drawing for service 

manuals, on the same project at BAE's facilities in Warren Michigan. They bring this 

civil action for violations of3 I U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq ofthe Federal False Claims Act for 

themselves and for the United States Government pursuant to 3 I U.S.C. § 3730(b)(I) et 

seq., and under RICO 18 U.S.C. §1962.At the times relevant to this action both Relators 

had (and have) direct and personal knowledge of false records and statements prepared 

by the Defendant BAE Systems that were submitted as claims to the United States as 

alleged herein. The Relators have voluntarily provided the United States of America with 

substantial material evidence and information supporting the allegations set forth herein, 

pursuant to 3 I U.S.C. § 3729, et seq. by making contract with Special Agent James 

McEdwards n, of the U.S. Army Criminal Investigations Command, Major Procurement 

Fraud Unit in Troy, Michigan. The Relators in this action thus are "original source(s)" as 

defined under 31 U.S.C.§3730(eX4)(A) and 31 U.S.C. §3730(e)(4XB) who have direct 

and independent knowledge of the information on which the allegations are based, and 

have voluntarily provided information to the Government before filing an action under 

this section, which action is based on this information. 

3. BAE Systems is a global company engaged in the development, delivery and support 

of advanced defense, security and aerospace systems in the air, on land and at sea. BAE 

Systems has major operations across five continents, with customers and partners in more 

than 100 countries. The Defendant BAE Systems Inc. is the US subsidiary of BAE 

Systems pic. Headquartered in Rockville, Maryland, BAE Systems Inc. consists of three 

Operating Groups that provide support and service solutions for current and future 

defense, intelligence, and civilian systems; design, develop and manufacture a wide range 

4
 

2:09-cv-11657-SJM-RSW   Doc # 3   Filed 06/08/09   Pg 4 of 39    Pg ID 39



of electronic systems and subsystems for military applications; and design, develop, 

produce,and provide service support of armored combat vehicles, artillery systems and 

intelligent munitions. 

m. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This is a civil action arising under the laws of the United States to redress violations of 

the Federal False Claims Act under the qui tam provisions of31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq. 

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331, §1345 and 31 

U.S.c. § 3732, as well as the R.I.C.O. act, 18 U.S.C. §1962. 

6. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., § 3732(a), and 28 

U.S.C. §1331 because the Defendant has transacted business in the Eastern District of 

Michigan. 

IV. FACTUAL BASIS FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT 

7. The Relators were working on Government projects for TACOM and the Army on 

contracts between BAE Systems, Inc. - the Defendant - and the United States 

Government. 

8. The Relators were employed by BAE Systems for the production of service manuals 

and materials for TACOM at the Defendant's office in Warren, Michigan. 

Relator Matt Paige 

9. The contracts that are the subject of this complaint are fixed price contracts. These 

contracts have what is known as a "bum rate," and the hours and time spent doing the 

work, are certified and submitted to the Government for payment. The time sheets also 

measure progress and efficiencies in performance. Incremental payments are made by 

the Government under these contracts on percentage of completion, after the hours 
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worked are certified by the Defendant and submitted to the Government by the Defendant 

for payment. 

10. One contract between TACOM and the Defendant called for drafting an instruction 

manual in a Watercraft project called SLAMM to demonstrate the US Army 

configuration, logistics and maintenance management processes by establishing a single 

integrated configuration/maintenance supply management system for all Army 

watercraft. The contract was awarded in September 2007 and was to be completed in 

September of 2008. The contract was titled "Matrix Study." The contract called for a 

study on the Army's Watercraft Maintenance program and how to improve it. 

I I. This particular contract did not include travel and was for a total of$500.000.00. 

12. The Relator Paige was hired as a Project Manager by MTC, the Defendant's 

predecessor corporation, in November of 2007. In December Mr. Paige was assigned to 

work with Tom Wallace, at that time a fellow Project Manager on a contract supporting 

the PD, Army Watercraft at TACOM. 

13. In February of2008, MTC was bought out by the Defendant, BAE Systems, Inc. At 

that time Tom Wallace took over as the office manager and was to report to Mr. James 

Gentry, who was located at BAE Systems headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia. 

14. The Relator Matt Paige worked on this contract by himself and he did not receive 

any support from other employees in the office. 

15. The Relator Matt Paige became aware of violations of the False Claims Act when he 

discovered that his supervisor and the person in charge of his project - Tom Wallace 

Iwas getting inside proprietary information from Bobby White, a TACOM employee of 

lhe United States Government, about what other contractors were bidding on closed bid 
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contracts. 

16. Tom Wallace and Bobby White, who was working in the TACOM subdivision 

known as PD Army Watercraft, were good friends, and when Tom Wallace bid the 

Watercraft contract, he was told by White how much money the Army had. 

17. As a result of this illegal and improper contact and relationship, Wallace then was 

able to figure out how many hours he would need to charge the Army in order to attempt 

to enter a successful bid on this contract. 

18. The result was that, when Wallace bid on the contract on behalf ofBAE Systems, he 

possessed insider information, and BAE's bid was not reflective of how many hours it 

actually would take to do the work. 

19. Then, in May/June of 2008, Tom Wallace forwarded to the Relator Paige another 

document he'd received from Bobby White, this one a briefing on yet another contract 

bid. This briefing was clearly marked "PROPRIETARY DATA." 

20. Mr. White had received this briefing from Headquarters Army, and in the briefing a 

company called CACI was bidding on a contract with the Government for follow up on 

work for the above study. 

21. The briefing was given by White so BAE could see for itselfwhat a competitor was 

proposing in order for BAE to counter a possible proposal by CACL When Wallace said 

in his email message"A competitor is trying to get a foot in the door. thoughts?" he was 

asking how BAE might keep CACI from beating BAE for the follow-on work. The 

Relator Matt Paige was copied in on this insider's briefing in an email transmission from 

Tom Wallace on May 28, 2008. 
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22. Because it is against Federal Acquisition Regulations for Government employees to 

give proprietary data of one contractor to another, the email from Mr. White to Mr. 

Wallace clearly demonstrated a violation in Federal laws and regulations. 

23. Usually firm fixed price contracts are allowed a 10% profit, and this contract had the 

potential of making 60-700/0. The Relator Paige, with his background in Government 

contracting as a Major in the U.S. Army, became concerned that, at one half million 

dollars, BAE would be making a huge profit on the contract, while the Government 

would be getting very little in return. 

24. Tom Wallace boasted that BAE Systems expected to make at least a 500/0 profit on 

this contract. 

25. In terms of the fraudulent billing - Tom Wallace became concerned that he would 

lose the Matrix contract, and so Mark Miller, another Project Manager and a personal 

friend of Tom Wallace, told the Relator Matt Paige that BAE Systems couldn't afford to 

lose this contract. 

26. As a result, although Miller had only worked a few hours on the Matrix study, he 

was charging, at Tom Wallace's direction, all of his time to this contract. He confessed 

to the Relator Paige that his salary as well as Paige's salary were both being totally paid 

by the Matrix Study contract. 

27. In late June, 2008, Tom Wallace was informed by the aforementioned TACOM 

employee Bobby White that he, Wallace, was to give a briefing at the Army Watercraft 

Conference in which he was to explain the status of the contract and the amount of 

money charged against it. 

28. At this time, Tom Wallace informed the Relator Paige that only $170,000.00 had 
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been charged against the $500,000.00 contract, and he was thus concerned about the 

amount of profit that was showing, so he directed Mr. Paige to include travel charges so 

that it would look like BAE Systems had more expenses on this contract than it actually 

had. 

29. As a result of this request by a BAE Systems supervisor to defraud the Government, 

the Relator Paige decided to inform the Ethics section at the Defendant's office in 

Dayton, Ohio. 

30. Mr. Paige contacted Michelle Hahn, BAE Ethics advisor in Dayton about the 

activities noted above, and then he departed Warren, Michigan for a TDY to Eatontown, 

NJ that was to last three weeks. 

31. In July, 2008.James Gentry, the Leader of Logistic Solutions in the Aerospace 

Solutions Business Unit from BAE Systems in Atlanta, Georgia, was in charge of all of 

the Warren, Michigan BAE operations. He received a copy ofMr. Paige's note to Ethics 

relating to the illegal conveyance of information. As hereinafter noted, Gentry also was 

made aware at this time of the systemic falsification oftime sheets at the Warren, 

Michigan office ofBAE. 

32. On July 17, 2008, the second week Mr. Paige was in Eatontown, he received a call 

from the Relator James Gammon, who advised him that Tom Andrews had just gone into 

his - Paige's - office and was looking in his desk. 

33. The Relator Matt Paige then called Ms. Hahn and told her Tom Wallace was in his 

Paige's - office, then Paige called Mr. Gammon back to find out what was happening. 

34. As hereinafter noted, Mr. Gammon informed Mr. Paige that Torn Wallace had taken 

him - Gammon - into the conference room and demanded to know who had called Paige. 
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35. When the Matt Paige returned to Michigan, he requested that he not return to his 

office because of the hostile work place, and Ms. Hahn agreed. 

36. James Gentry, as the Leader of Logistic Solutions in the Aerospace Solutions 

Business Unit from BAE Systems in Atlanta, Georgia, who as noted was in charge of all 

of the Warren, Michigan BAE operations, knew and was aware of the details of, and had 

been briefed on, the time card issues and the improper disclosures of proprietary 

information. 

37. On September 25, 2008, Mr. Gentry came up to Warren, Michigan from BAE 

Systems in Atlanta, Georgia to address the employees of BAE about the results of the 

Ethics investigation that Mr. Paige (and Mr. Gammon) had called for when they reported 

these activities to Ethics and Human Relations. James Gentry informed everyone at the 

meeting that the investigation was concluded, and that BAE would be resolving "any 

personality issues" between the Relator Paige and Tom Wallace. 

38. The result was that Tom Wallace was not suspended. 

39. Gentry, while aware of the mis-filing of time sheet hours as well as the illegal 

disclosures of proprietary information flowing from Bobby White at TACOM to Tom 

Wallace at BAE Systems, nonetheless, as part of the BAE Systems "leadership team," 

decided that Wallace would remain on the job. 

40. On the same date - September 25, 2008 - Tom Wallace, after a closed door meeting 

with Gentry, called Jim Gammon into his office and asked "Whose side are you on." 

41. On this date, the BAE Ethics section had "ordered" that there was to be no retaliation 

against Matt Paige, yet another result of the September 25,2008 meeting was the fact that 

the Relator Paige was to return to work, not as a Project Manager, but as a Special 
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Program Officer - a demotion - where, instead of Tom Wallace, he would be working 

under Mark Miller as his immediate boss and supervisor,. 

42. Rather than seeing steps being taken by the Defendant's agents, servants and 

employees to cease and desist immediately the practice of submitting false time sheets, 

the Relator Paige learned instead that Ethics had concluded its investigation, and that the 

steps being taken involved the issue of resolving Mr. Paige's "working relationship with 

Tom Wallace," 

43, Mr, Paige was told by Nicole Western in Ethics that if he did not accept this (lower) 

position under Mark Miller as his supervisor, BAE Systems would have to place him on 

unpaid leave, All of the decisions in the matter flowed down from the Vice President's 

office in Dayton from the very beginning, 

45, Mark Miller, it should be noted, was the same person described above in paragraphs 

25 and 26 who had been named in the report that the Relator Matt Paige had filed with 

BAE's Ethics and Human Relations division, 

46, Miller, a personal friend of Tom Wallace, had just been promoted to a Project 

Manager's position, and Relator Paige was senior as a Project Manager, and he 

considered Miller unqualified to be a Project Manager, and that Miller should have been 

reporting to Paige, and not the other way around, 

47, Thus, the Relator Paige was being asked to report to an unqualified Project Manager 

whom he had accused of complicity in the false charging of hours, a man who Mr, Paige 

had described to Human Relations as being part of the widespread cheating on the time 

sheets that be'd reported, 

48, In addition, in spite of the fact that all of these proceedings were supposed to be in 
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strictest confidence - and Mr. Paige was constantly being reassured by Human Relations 

that they were - Judy Moore spoke with Jim Gammon on September 25 and already knew 

what Gentry and the Ethics sections recommendations were going to be - that Matt Paige 

would be coming back to work under Mark Miller or he would be replaced. 

49. This"offer" to Relator Paige was an act of harassment as well as a threat to his job 

security. Not only was he being demoted from his position as Project Manager, but he 

had informed the BAE's Ethics representatives that Mark Miller had been illegally 

charging work to his, the Relator Paige's, contract. And Miller, at Tom Wallace's 

direction, was immediately involved in the submission of false timecards to the 

Government, with the timecards being changed to hide the fact that Miller was charging 

his hours on another study to the timesheets submitted on the Matrix project. 

50. Thus, to require the Relator Paige to report to Miller (or else) was not only a 

demotion, but also a means for Tom Wallace to be in a position to fire the Relator at will 

by having Miller write Paige's performance appraisal. 

51. On the week of October 19, 2008, Mr. Paige discovered that BAE was going to close 

out his time card, which meant that he would be placed on unpaid leave, which was an 

indication that BAE was ready to terminate him. 

52. Paige contacted the Army Criminal Investigation Command (CID) and spoke to 

Agent James McEdwards and gave him the same information he had given Michelle 

Hahn, Nicole Western and personnel at BAE's Ethics and Human Relations divisions. 

53. Mr. Paige was then advised not to speak to Mr. Gentry without a lawyer present. 

When Mr. Gentry was advised of this fact, Mr. Gentry refused to speak to the Relator if 

there was a lawyer present. 
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54. As a result ofcrn having been contacted by Mr Paige in OctoberlNovember, and, on 

information and belief, as a result of BAE's learning about the Army's Criminal 

Investigation Unit, Relator Paige was then informed by Nicole Western (BAE Human 

Resources in the BAE Systems corporate offices in Rockville, Virginia) that he would 

remain on paid leave. 

55. Since that date to the present time (at the filing of this Amended Complaint), Matt 

Paige has been on the status of paid leave. 

56. In the two years prior to the illegal activities noted herein, BAE Systems division in 

Warren, Michigan (and it's predecessor corporation lITe) - on the contracts that Tom 

Wallace was responsible for - were worth six or 7 million dollars. Presently, they are 

worth approximately 22 million dollars as a result of Wallace's activities. 

Relator James Gammon 

57. During this period, because time sheets were being altered and changed, the Relator 

James Gammon also was filing his own complaints with Ethics and Human Relations at 

BAE Systems, Inc. 

58. In August, 2008, Relator Gammon reported to the Ethics personnel in Human 

Relations at BAE about the falsifying of the time cards. 

59. Mr. Gammon reported that the agents and employees ofBAE Systems had gone into 

those time cards and altered them, removing the time charged on those projects and 

placing the hours on other BAE contracts with TACOM. 

60. The manner in which these false claims took place was as follows: Tom Wallace 

was in charge of the project the Relator Gammon was working on, with full authority to 

act on behalf of BAE Systems, Inc., and, as noted in preceding paragraphs, he directed 
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Mark Miller to make the changes in Paige's and now Gammon's August 2008 time 

sheets, as well as numerous other time sheets on other occasions. 

61. The time sheets showed hours charged to one project, but when the hours ran out on 

that project, additional hours were charged to other contracts to complete the project on 

the other contract from another contract office. 

62. Consequently, after Ethics began its investigation and began to ask questions, 

Gammon was pulled into a meeting with Mark Miller and Judy Moore (his supervisor at 

the time) and told not to go to Human Resources, or anyone else if he had any questions 

about charging his hours to a project. 

63. After Mr. Gammon had been on that telephone call in which he informed Mr. Paige 

that Tom Wallace was presently in Paige's office as noted above in paragraphs 32 and 33, 

Tom Wallace called a meeting and asked everyone who it was who had telephoned Matt 

Paige. When the Relator Gammon said he did, Wallace asked him "Whose side are you 

on?" 

64. Mr Gammon replied that he was "on BAE's side," and Wallace responded, "That's 

good," because Jim Gentry had told him (Wallace) that if Mr. Gammon "was not on his 

(Wallace's) side," then he definitely "would have find employment elsewhere." 

65. On February 8, 2009, some six months after the Relator Gammon first reported the 

illegal changing of time sheets in BAE Systems' Warren Michigan office, Kevin 

McCallum, the LMi Program Manager for BAE Technology Solutions & Services - an 

agent with full authority to act on BAE's behalf - sent out a directive to all personnel 

working on the FARE project and ordered that "Absolutely no one should be working 

and/or charging time to the FARE project." 
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66. McCallum then directed that, "for the time that had been charged on the project, the 

timesheets need to be corrected." McCallum ordered the Relator and others that, because 

"costs for this project are over budget - If you've been charging time to the FARE this 

week and you were not directed by Pat or Mark, then your timesheets need to be 

corrected. The only person who should be directing any work to be done is Pat 

Musthauler and that approval needs to be run through by myself or Mark Miller" 

67. Time sheets were then changed for the prior 4 weeks, the weeks of 02127/2009, 

03/0612009, 03/2012009, 03/1312009 by Mike Mullins on the order of Mark M;ller, along 

with other time sheets through the year with Mark Miller's signature on them. 

68. The Relator was work;ng on the Three TraBer project, which is three small traHers. 

rus project was listed under the SK Trailer number, but Mark Miller and Tom Wallace 

directed that the work was to be charged to the Semi Tra;ler number. But when one looks 

at the March 27 time sheet that Judy Moore approved, the time goes back to the SK 

Tanker number. 

69. Mark Miller also had the Relator do a few revisions on drawings for the F.ARE. 

project since they were small jobs. Gammon was told by Miller to "Just charge it to the 

SK" or whatever the Relator was work;ng on. 

70. On March 10, 2009 - some eight months after the Relators' first informed 

management and Human Relations and Etmcs about the time sheets being changed - the 

time sheets still were being changed. 

71. Judy Moore also was involved in changing the time sheets. Mark Miller and Judy 

Moore constantly lumped together the projects under one contract number where there 

was money left. Mark Miller and Judy Moore told Mr. Gammon that "it was all the same 
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job," when in fact they knew full well that it wasn't. 

72. Up to the end of April, 2009, the Relator James Gammon noted changes in 20 days, 

with changes in 25 days of time sheets. 

73. The Relator Gammon reported the violations to Human Resources at BAE Systems, 

and the matter went through Michelle Hahn in the EthicslHuman Resources office in 

Dayton, Ohio, then to Nicole Western in the Ethics office at corporate headquarters in 

Rockville, Virginia. 

74. The Relator Gammon was told that his situation was being investigated, and that he 

should speak to no one further about it. Then, when Mr. Gammon spoke to the Ethics 

office for an update, he was told by Michelle Hahn that the matter was out of their hands, 

that she could not speak to him any more. 

75. Thus, everyone working on the Watercraft project who'd been changing the time 

sheets and mis-charging hours billed on the various projects, had been cleared by BAE 

Systems, Inc. of any wrongdoing. 

76. As recent!y as April 23, 2009, Gammon was ordered to work on a contract that BAE 

didn't have yet, and the Defendant was billing Gammon's hours to another contract. 

77. Price codes were constant!y changed and many time sheets were revised and had to 

be re-signed. 

78. Mark Miller, who first was falsifying and changing time sheets way back in July of 

2008, was doing it again. He sent out a memo to Kevin McCallum regarding the Semi

Trailer where he arranged to continue the process of changing time sheets and shifting the 

hours worked around to different projects. 

79. Kevin McCallum questioned the mis-billing on the Trailer project with the following 
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response: "Why do we continue to allow charges to this project # for work that is still 

continuing to be accomplished on the original Semi-Trailer? The original 5K Tanker and 

Semi-Trailer had different project #s. We have no way of differentiating between the 

Option Trailers and the old semi-trailers. For one, we're going to run out of money on the 

Option Trailers because some personnel continue to charge the old semi-trailer to the new 

option. Secondly, I don't believe that we can ethically charge our work this way." 

80. In spite ofMcCallum's warnings about the illegality, Miller continued the practice. 

8\. On April 27, Mr. Gammon learned that Judy Moore had been working on an old 

Semi Trailer Manual that was being redone since late February, and she had been 

charging her work to another project using option money since there was no money left 

on that old project 

82. On April 27, 2009, Kevin McCallum had a closed door meeting with James Gentry 

and attempted to establish a system for the department in order to avoid mis-charging. 

McCallum proposed a system that would track job numbers and that would ensure that 

the hours were properly charged. "We're not going to do that," James Gentry told Kevin 

McCallum, and this recommended system, which would have set BAE on the correct 

path, was rejected by BAE. 

83. The M 105 A3 contract, the M 149 and the M 103 all were billed under the same 

project number. 

84. Then, after the Relator Gammon had reported the time sheet violations to yet another 

Human RelationslEthics Section ofBAE, this time to a higher level than what had been 

going to the former MTC legacy personnel within BAE, a meeting was held at the 

Warren office ofBAE Systems on May 6,2008. 

17
 

2:09-cv-11657-SJM-RSW   Doc # 3   Filed 06/08/09   Pg 17 of 39    Pg ID 52



85. At this meeting, Sam Cole, a Vice President ofBAE, notified all the attendees that 

Tom WalIace and Mark MilIer had been put on administrative leave, and that James 

Gentry would assume the position in charge. 

86. Notably, Gentry already was in charge and, as noted above, he'd been "stonewalling" 

the reported violations for ten months since the illegal time sheets were first reported. 

87. At the May 6 meeting, Mr. Cole stated that if one does not have a correct job number 

to charge the work to, then he should not work on the project. Judy Moore asked, "What 

if you are given a job to start and are told the new number will be given to you in a 

couple ofdays because it's a new project, why can't you just start work on it anyway and 

charge to what you were working on since?" She stated that she has done this for years 

with all the contract companies. 

88. Mr. Cole repeated that this was a violation: "With no number, no work is to be done. 

As soon as you enter that number, that is what counts from that minute on. " 

89. Cole also said to everyone at the meeting to let him know directly if there were any 

further violations, and he would respond immediately. 

90. Kevin McCallum in an email message reiterated that he had "not given anyone 

authorization to work on the old 5K Tanker or Semi-Trailer. .. ," that "we don't have a 

work authorization to work on these. This is not my project. It's Judy's. Your direction 

to charge for this project should come only from Judy and/or Mike Mullins. Again, I 

suggest that if you need clarification that you run this by Judy and Mike Mullins. I'm 

responsible for the two new Trailer Projects and those projects are only for that effort and 

not for the 5K Tanker and old semi-trailer. I'm still stating that you should not charge to 

those new projects. " 
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91. There were no work orders or options in the M103 contract for the Government to 

pay for the M103 Trailer manual, but even in May, after the Cole meeting, everyone did 

work and charged their hours to it. 

92. On May 8, two days after the meeting, the Relator Gammon reported to Mr. Cole that 

the violations were continuing. 

93. At this time, Jim Gammon also started on the M967, and charged hours to it, and he 

already had done some work in April on this contract without being given any new 

number to charge the work to. 

94. After Wallace and Mark Miller were sent home, Judy Moore and Mike Mullins were 

running the office, along with Sandy Boaks, Judy Moore's daughter. As of May 18, 2009, 

Judy Moore, undisciplined for her role in entering the illegal and falsified time sheets, 

was back at work and she still was approving Jim Gammon's time sheets at the end of 

every week. Gammon hadn't worked for her for six months. 

95. Then Gammon was given work to do with no number because Sandy Boaks, a 

supervisor, jumped the gun and told Mr. Gammon to work on a project for which there 

was no number. 

96. Then, on Thursday, May 21, Gammon was told to stop work on the M149, M105A2 

and M105A3 contracts. 

97. At this time in late May, 2009, BAE had called requesting the Semi Trailer contract, 

and for a few days they couldn't find it. Then, they recovered copies of the contract, but 

the M103 trailer package manual didn't have the option addendum attached that would 

have allowed BAE to complete the MI03 trailer package manual. The M149 and the 

M105 contracts did have the addendum, but the upshot of the search for an addendum on 
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the Ml03 trailer package manual was the fact that personnel at BAE performed work on 

the Ml03 trailer package manual and apparently did it without a contract, and TACOM 

should not have paid for it. 

CLAIMS 

FIRST COUNT 

VIOLAnON OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT 
31 V.S,C. § 3729(a)(1) and 31 V.S.C. § 3729(a)(2) 

In falsifying costs of labor and the bours and times
 
submitted on time sheets,
 

the Defendant knowingly made or presented,
 
or caused to be made or presented, or used or caused to be used,
 

false or fraudulent claims for payment,
 
or to get a false or fraudulent claims paid or approved,
 

by the Government.
 

98. Plaintiffs the United States and Relators repeat and reallege each allegation in 

paragraphs I. through 97. as iffully set forth herein. 

99. The United States Department of Defense promulgated Military Standards that 

govern its contracts, with detailed requirements to be followed and fully complied with 

by the military contractor, and certified by the contractor as meeting those standards. 

100. In submitting its bills and the false time sheets as evidence of its performance on 

these contracts, BAE represented and certified to its customer - TACOM and the U.S. 

Army - that it had complied with Military Standards and Specifications set forth by 

F.AR. as well as its own requirements governing its performance in contracts with 

TACOM and the U.S. Army, when in fact it did not. 

101. Implicit in the submission of the claims for payment to the Government were 

BAE's representations that it had complied with all of the terms and conditions of the 

20
 

2:09-cv-11657-SJM-RSW   Doc # 3   Filed 06/08/09   Pg 20 of 39    Pg ID 55



contracts and all of the requirements of Government contracts. 

102. Strict requirements are imposed upon the Defendant as a Government contractor, 

and these requirements, as set forth in the Federal Acquisition Regulations, were 

systematically violated by the Defendant. 

103. The Federal Acquisition Regulations - F.A.R. - as well as the Standards of Conduct 

set forth by BAE Systems, Inc. itself, (written to conform with the requirements of 

FAR.), as outlined in Section III, Appendix A, in the section titled Contract and 

Government Activities, Recording oleos/s, establish the following standards ofconduct: 

"All costs must be reported and charged to the appropriate 
contract or cost account, regardless of the budget status ofthe 
contract or account. Improprieties, such as knowingly 
charging labor or materials costs to the wrong account, 
charging direct contract effort to an indirect account, and 
falsification of timekeeping records, are against BAE 
Systems policy and will not be tolerated." 

104. Further, 

"Accurate and complete records as required by law, 
regulation, or contract must be maintained. All employees 
who are responsible for preparing or approving such records 
are accountable for the accuracy of all representations made 
by such records." 

105. Further, BAE required that 

"It is the intent and practice of BAE Systems to voluntarily 
withhold all unallowable costs (i.e., lobbying expense, 
alcohol, etc.) from Government billings and submittals. This 
will be done in accordance with applicable federal 
regulations, Cost Accounting Standards, relevant case law, 
and BAE Systems, Inc. policy guidance." 

106. BAE Systems also required that 
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"Employees shall record all hours worked promptly and 
accurately in accordance with their business unit/line of 
business' timekeeping procedures." 

107. In anyone or more of the circumstances described herein, time entries were 

modified by one user on behalf of another user; time entries were modified, created or 

deleted by one user on behalf of another user without providing a note explaining the 

reason for the change; time entries were modified by a project or group manager; time 

entries were modified after having been approved; there were unapproved time entries in 

a specified date interval; timesheets were approved by someone other than the person that 

was designated to approve them; time sheets were modified after having reopened a 

period; timesheets were approved by administrative staff instead of project or group 

managers; timesheets were approved long after they were submitted; times were allocated 

to other projects that needed the times when a project exceed time budgets, and the 

Defendant systematically billed for services not rendered and misrepresented the services 

that were rendered. 

I08. The Defendant manipulated time sheets to bill time spent on certain contracts to the 

United States when the work was being performed on other contracts. 

109. Clearly, with the changing of the time sheets and with the orders to do so coming 

specifically from the Relators' supervisors, project managers and superiors, as well as the 

ratification of this conduct by the Relators' supervisors and the Ethics Section at BAE's 

corporate headquarters, the Defendant violated all of the above Federal Regulations and 

BAE Systems' standards of conduct. 

110. In doing so, BAE made false statements to the United States and engaged in a pattern of 

fraudulent conduct to improperly obtain payments from the United States under Govemment
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funded contracts awarded to BAE by TACOM 

111. Title 18 of the US Code, Section 100I, makes it unlawful to lie to a government 

agent, and thus makes it illegal to intentionally make false statements to a Government 

agent in any matter "within the jurisdiction" of the Government. 

112. The Defendant BAE Systems has engaged in the systematic practice of lying about 

the number of hours that were worked as represented by time sheets that were submitted 

under regulatory obligation to TACOM and the United States Government for payment. 

113. In addition, under 48 CFR Ch. I, FAR 31.201-2, in determining whether costs are 

allowable, a contractor is required to comply with a standard of reasonableness. 112. 

Under F.A.R. 31-201-3 (a), a "cost is reasonable if, in its nature and amount, it does not 

exceed that which would be incurred by a prudent person in the conduct of competitive 

business," and "(n)o presumption of reasonableness shall be attached to the incurrence 

of costs by a contractor.." 

114. Using these standards, the supplying of falsified time sheets to the United States 

Government violates the standards of reasonableness set forth in FAR 31.201-3(a). 

115. F.A.R. 31-201-3 further states that "What is reasonable depends upon a variety of 

considerations and circumstances, including (w)hether it is the type of cost generally 

recognized as ordinary and necessary for the conduct of the contractor's business or the 

contract performance... " 

116. Further, a cost is reasonable if the contractor follows "(g)enerally accepted sound 

business practices, arm's length bargaining, and Federal and State laws and regulations." 

As noted in the allegations related by Matt Paige, the passing of, and receipt of, insider 

proprietary information from Bobby White at TACOM to Tom Wallace were violations 

of the "arm's length" bargaining requirements of this FA.R. requirement. 
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117. BAE submitted DD-250 forms - and/or other claims for payment following the 

percentage of completion schedules for work described in the forms. After the hours of 

work were included for billing purposes on some contracts and then excluded or changed 

on others, and when the time sheets were altered and changed for each employee on these 

projects, the billings were not in compliance with contract specifications or with Federal 

laws relating to accuracy, honesty and truthfulness in the billing processes. 

118. In allowing such action to be taken, BAE through its agents, servants and 

employees, recklessly disregarded the truth of DD-250 certifications and/or other means 

of submitting time and bills to TACOM and the Government of the United States. 

119. BAE failed to supervise and monitor the actions of company personnel, and refused 

to discipline the wrongdoing of company personnel. The Relators reported these 

violations to BAE's Ethics sections at both the local level and at the Corporate level in 

Rockville, Maryland and elsewhere, but the higher ups at all levels refused to take any 

disciplinary action, to change or even to condemn these fraudulent practices for nine or 

ten months following the first reporting of the wrongdoing. 

120. Even when (recent) disciplinary steps were taken and lower level project managers 

such as Tom Wallace and Mark Miller were removed, a central player in the fraudulent 

process, James Gentry, remained as the Leader of Logistic Solutions in the Aerospace 

Solutions Business Unit from BAE Systems in Atlanta, Georgia and remained in charge 

of all actions of the Warren operation. Keeping Gentry in charge, who earlier had ratified 

Wallace's conduct with inactivity reflects the Defendant's intentional disregard of one of 

the fundamental sources of the problem. 
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121. As early as July, 2008, James Gentry was involved in attempts to stifle the reports 

ofEthics violations, and he participated at every level of the cover up. 

122. In fact, management at BAE did so little to change these practices or to change the 

behavior of its agents, that directives to change time cards, or to bill time on different 

contracts were still coming from management some eight months after the aforesaid 

illegal and/or False Claims Act violations were first reported by the Relators. 

123. Thus by implicitly stating that there was nothing wrong with altering and changing 

time sheets, these same agents, servants and/or employees of the Defendant with the full 

authority ofBAE Systems, Inc. ratified and thus authorized the conduct of its agents and 

employees. 

124. Rather than obey the law, BAE made a mockery of the Federal Standards of 

Conduct for Government Contractors. 

125. Rather than "facilitate timely discovery of improper conduct," or "ensure that 

corrective measures were promptly instituted or carried out," rather than "encouraging 

employees to make reports of improper conduct," rather than "cooperating with any 

Government agencies responsible for investigation or corrective actions," rather than 

implementing a system of "internal controls for compliance with standards of conduct 

and the special requirements of Government contracting," the Defendant participated in a 

sham and immediately set about finding ways to put pressure on both of the Relators to 

maintain their silence. 

126. By virtue of the aforesaid false or fraudulent claims made by the Defendant, the 

United States suffered damages and therefore is entitled to multiple damages under the 

False Claims Act, to be determined at trial. Millions of dollars in Government contracts 
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were and are being run out of the Defendant's Dayton office, and the Board members 

were all briefed on the aforesaid violations, and the Vice President at Dayton knew what 

was going on with the process of obtaining and working on millions of dollars in 

contracts with TACOM and the United States Government. By engaging in the fraudulent 

conduct of changing time sheets and falsifying billing reports and submitting fraudulent 

bills to the United States Army through TACOM, the Defendant has caused the United 

States Government significant losses. 

SECOND COUNT 

VIOLAnON OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT 
31 U.S.c. § 3729(aXn and 31 U.S.c. § 3729(a)(2) 

In accessing proprietary information from a Government employee
 
in a sealed bid process in order to successfully bid
 

on Government business from TACOM,
 
the Defendant knowingly made or presented,
 

or caused to be made or presented, or used or caused to be used,
 
a false or fraudulent claim for payment,
 

or to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved,
 
by the Government.
 

127. Plaintiffs the United States and Relators repeat and re-allege each allegation in 

paragraphs 1 through 126 as if fully set forth herein. 

128. In negotiating contracts, in bidding for contracts, and in reporting on the status of 

works in progress on contracts with the United States Government through TACOM, the 

Defendant BAE Systems, Inc. was (and presently is) required to certify to the United 

States as accurate and true the numbers it is reporting, and the work upon which its bids 

and its bills are based. 

129. In the same Appendix, Section III ofBAE Systems, Inc. cited earlier in the First 

26
 

2:09-cv-11657-SJM-RSW   Doc # 3   Filed 06/08/09   Pg 26 of 39    Pg ID 61



Count, the Defendant sets forth appropriate conduct from its employees when contracts 

are negotiated with the United States Government. Here also, BAE's requirements 

mirror the requirements ofF.A.R. Bidding, Negotiation and Performance of Contracts: 

"BAE Systems will compete fairly and ethically for all 
business opportunities. Employees will strictly observe the 
laws, rules, and regulations that apply to Government and 
commercial procurement activities." 

130. Further, 

"No employee will attempt to obtain information regarding 
a competitor's bid or proposal when there is any reason to 
believe that such information is restricted from disclosure 
or when such activity is prohibited by the Procurement 
Integrity Regulations or any other statute or regulation." 

131. Further, 

"BAE Systems shall comply with the Truth in Negotiations 
Act for all Government procurements. Employees involved 
in the negotiation of contracts or other agreements shall not 
knowingly make any untruthful or inaccurate statements, 
communications, or representations." 

132. Further, 

"No employee will attempt to obtain information regarding 
a competitor's bid or proposal when there is any reason to 
believe that such information is restricted from disclosure 
or when such activity is prohibited by the Procurement 
Integrity Regulations or any other statute or regulation." 

133. Further, 

"BAE Systems shall comply with the Truth in Negotiations 
Act for all Government procurements. Employees involved 
in the negotiation of contracts or other agreements shall not 
knowingly make any untruthful or inaccurate statements, 
communications, or representations." 
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134. In this, the Second Count, the disclosure of proprietary information on bids, using 

numbers that it obtained through illegal contacts with Bobby White, a Government 

employee at TACOM, in order to gain access to material in closed bid Government 

contracts in order to successfully bid on those Government contracts, and then to profit 

from this illegally obtained confidential information, clearly violated Procurement 

Integrity Regulations, the Truth in Negotiations Act standards as well as all of the above 

noted standards of conduct outlined in FAR and in BAE Systems standards of conduct as 

well. 

13S.Even without being awarded the contract, BAE Systems, Inc., as the recipient of 

insider proprietary information, put itself in a position to obtain payment for the services 

it would provide to the Government that were based on false or fraudulent claims, false 

statements and records, and/or false or fraudulent claims for payment, and these claims 

were based upon the representations that all requirements ofthe Government contract had 

been complied with. 

136.The Defendant violated the Truth in Negotiations Act, the Procurement Integrity 

Regulations and the requirements set forth in F.AR by knowingly and falsely certifYing 

that bids submitted for work, as well other costs and other bids or internal practices at 

BAE, were based on current and accurate information, when in fact they were not; 

instead they were based on insider proprietary information. 

137.Further, under 48 CFR Ch. 1, FAR 31.201-2, in determining whether costs are 

allowable, a contractor is required to comply with a standard of reasonableness. Under 

F.AR. 31-201-3 (a), a "cost is reasonable if, in its nature and amount, it does not exceed 

that which would be incurred by a prudent person in the conduct of competitive 
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business," and "(n)o presumption of reasonableness shall be attached to the incurrence 

of costs by a contractor." 

138. F.A.R. 31-201-3 further states that "What is reasonable depends upon a variety of 

considerations and circumstances, including (w)hether it is the type of cost generally 

recognized as ordinary and necessary for the conduct of the contractor's business or the 

contract performance ... " 

139. Further, a cost is reasonable if the contractor follows "(g)enerally accepted sound 

business practices, arm's length bargaining, and Federal and State laws and regulations." 

140.Under FAR 16.301-3, one of the limitations imposed under a contract is the 

stipulation that "appropriate Government surveillance during performance will provide 

reasonable assurance that efficient methods and effective cost controls are used." 

141.When these standards are imposed, the Defendant, by obtaining Government 

contracts, attempting to obtain Government contracts, or conforming bids or 

communications to TACOM by using tainted, illegal insider proprietary information and 

unlawful contacts with an employee of the United States working for TACOM, thus 

submitted bids and bills for performance that were false. 

142. The Defendant, in gaining an unfavorable advantage in the bidding process violated 

the standards of reasonableness set forth in FAR 31.201-2, FAR 16.301-3, and in FAR 

31.201-3 et seq. 

143.Through the aforesaid actions, the Defendant knowingly made, used and caused to be 

made, and knowingly submitted or caused the submission of false or fraudulent claims 

for payment to the United States Government, and knowingly made or caused to be made 
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a false record or statement to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by the 

Federal Government. 

144.Millions of dollars in Government contracts were and are being run out of the 

Defendant's Dayton office, and the Board members were all briefed on the aforesaid 

violations, and the Vice President at Dayton knew what was going on with the process of 

obtaining and working on millions of dollars in contracts with TACOM and the United 

States Government. 

145.The Defendant has profited by obtaining additional contracts with the illegally 

obtained inside bid information, and has benefited from having its contracts for the 

supply of instructional pamphlets and brochures to the U.S. Army through TACOM 

renewed from year to year at enormous cost to the U.S. Army. 

146.Tbus, the Defendant knowingly made, used, or caused to be made or used, false 

records or statements to get false or fraudulent claims for payment or approval to the 

United States. 

147.By virtue of the aforesaid false or fraudulent claims made by the Defendant, BAE 

Systems, Inc. knowingly violated 31 U.S.C. §3729 et seq. and the United States suffered 

damages and therefore is entitled to multiple damages under the False Claims Act. 

THIRD COUNT 

VIOLATION OF RoLC.O. 
Racketeering under Federal Law 

18 U.S.CO §1962 

148. The allegations in paragraphs I through 147 are re-alleged as if fully set forth below. 

149. Defendant was at aU times relevant hereto operating as an enterprise engaged in or 

affecting interstate or foreign commerce within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1962. 
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ISO. In an effort to defraud the United States of America, the Defendant, through its 

agents, vendors, contractors, subcontractors, servants and or employees, by telephone, the 

internet messaging system and through the United States Mail, and in contact with 

agents, servants, and or employees of the United States Government as noted in the 

preceding paragraphs, made numerous false and fraudulent statements to representatives 

of the U. S. Government concerning bids, costs, claims, submissions, and pricing data. 

lSI. Said conduct constitutes a violation of 18 U.S.C §§1341 and 1343. The 

aforementioned acts of mail fraud and wire fraud have occurred within ten years of each 

other and constitute a pattern of racketeering activity within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 

§§1961(a) and 1961(5) and, therefore, also constitute a violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962. 

FOURTH COUNT 

In Engaging in Acts of Retaliation, Harassment and 
Threats of Wrongful Termination 

against the Relators Paige and Gammon, 
the Defendant violated 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h) 

152. The allegations in the preceding paragraphs I through ISO are realleged as if fully 

set forth below. 

153.Throughout their employment at BAE Systems, Inc., the Relators as hereinbefore 

noted, complained to management about fraud in the contract bidding process and in the 

false certification of time sheets and the changes in the hours and times spent in the 

performance of contracts for the Government through TACOM. 

I54.During their employment, the Relators refused to participate in, or on the threat of 

job loss in Jim Gammon's case, were ordered to participate in the fraudulent activities 

that had occurred, and they refused to remain silent about the fraud on the United States 

Government that was being perpetrated by their employer. 
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155.For more than eight months, not one of the employees of the Defendant in positions 

superior to the Relators, all ofwhom had the authority to do so, took action to correct the 

acts constituting False Claims Act violations that the Relators had reported. 

156. Instead the Defendant retaliated against both Relators and left them "hanging," 

directing, among other things, that Matt Paige return to work at a lower pay grade with a 

new supervisor - the man, Mark Miller, one of the people, along with Tom Wallace, who 

the subject ofhis original report to HR about falsifying time cards. 

157. BAE management directed Jim Gammon not to go to Ethics, but rather to keep any 

reports of illegal and unethical activities "in house." 

158. Under FAR 203.7000 - Contractor Standards of Conduct as codified in 48 C.F.R. 

Ch. 2, subpart 203.70 - the contractor is obligated to institute and to follow certain 

standards of conduct and control systems that "facilitate timely discovery and disclosure 

of improper conduct in connection with Government contracts" and "(e)nsure corrective 

measures are promptly instituted and carried out." 

159.BAE's knowing submission of falsified time sheets, along with the ratification or 

approval of these actions and practices during the nine or ten months after they were 

reported by the Relators to BAE's Ethics personnel in Dayton Ohio and to the Ethics 

section at Corporate headquarters in Rockville, Maryland, and the subsequent "green 

light" given to these activities by management personnel all the way up the BAE 

management chain, certainly failed to "facilitate timely discovery... of improper 

conduct" nor did it conform to "generally accepted sound business practices" as well as 

to Federal Requirements relating to the reporting of ethics violations. As noted, these 
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activities continue to the present moment at the date of the filing of this Amended 

Complaint.
 

160.BAE did not "facilitate timely discovery and disclosure of improper conduct."
 

Instead, it put pressure on the Relator Gammon to maintain his silence, and it attempted
 

to intimidate the Relator Paige by having him report to work at a reduced pay rate to a
 

supervisor(s) whom he had accused of illegal and/or unethical activities.
 

161.Further, the Defendant attempted to intimidate Gammon by requiring him to take
 

sides and support management or lose his job, rather than take the correct ethical path and
 

continue his reporting to Ethics the fraudulent activities concerning what was taking
 

place on the FARE project.
 

162.Under FAR 203.7001 Procedures as codified in 48 C.FR Ch. 2, subpart 203.7001,
 

the contractor is required to provide for "A written code of business ethics and conduct
 

and an ethics training program for all employees that includes:
 

a. Periodic reviews of company business practices, procedures and 
policies and internal controls for compliance with standards of conduct 
and the special requirements of Government contracting; 
b. A mechanism, such as a hot line, by which employees may report 
suspected instances of improper conduct, and instructions that 
encourage employees to make such reports; 
c. Internal and/or external audits as appropriate; 
d. Disciplinary action for improper conduct; 
e. Timely reporting to appropriate Government officials of suspected 
or actual violations of law in connection with Government contracts 
or any other irregularities in connection with Government contracts; 
f Full cooperation with any Government agencies responsible for 
investigation or corrective actions." 

163. A review of each and every factual allegation made by both Relators underlines the 

violation of each and every one of the above paragraphs. 
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164. Under FAR 203.7000 Contractor Standards of Conduct as codified in 48 C.F.R. Ch. 

2, subpart 203.70, BAE Systems, Inc. was "required to conduct itself with the highest 

degree of integrity and honesty." 

165.BAE's fraudulent conduct herein described was without any integrity or honesty 

whatever. 

166.In light of all the activities reported by both Relators internally at BAE Systems 

through its Human RelationslEthics sections, those with the authority to act in terms of 

disciplining the persons involved in the fraudulent activities did nothing, or, in the 

alternative, made adjustments to leave an impression that action was being taken, while 

keeping in power agents and employees who were responsible for overseeing compliance 

with the laws and regulations and failed to do so. 

167.This issue first affected the Relator Gammon when he was singled out the day he told 

Matt Paige that Tom Wallace was in his office, and that Tom Wallace had received a call 

from his director telling him to stay out Matt's office and not say anything else to anyone 

about the call he'd just received. 

168.Tom Wallace then pulled everyone together and wanted to know how people found
 

out that he was in the Relator Paige's office.
 

l69.Since that date, the Relator Gammon has been labeled as "the bad guy" in the office
 

by other employees.
 

170. Jim Gammon also was instructed not to talk further to Human Resources or to
 

anyone else about time card and project contract charge numbers.
 

l71.Gammon was passed over for a promotion when Sandy Boaks, the unqualified
 

daughter of his immediate supervisor, Judy Moore, got the job.
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172. In addition, in March or April, Gammon applied for a position with Camber Corp., 

which is a business that does the same type of Govemment work for TACOM. He was 

told that Camber did not want to hire him because Camber's HR section had been made 

aware, after speaking with someone at BAE, that Gammon had reported BAE's time 

sheet violations to the Criminal Investigation Division of the Army and therefore he was 

"a bad guy," 

173. The hostile environment at BAE was constantly growing and uncomfortable for the 

Relator Gammon, and when his Program Manager Kevin McCallum left, he was assigned 

to work under a woman, Sandy Boaks, who is the daughter of his former old supervisor, 

Judy Moore, who admitted that she'd been mis-charging for years 

174. Presently, with his most recent Program Manager gone, the inside clique has 

continued to oppose everything Relator Gammon submitted, and the fraudulent practices 

continue, and continue to be covered up as well. 

175. Presently, Gammon's chances of advancement and even his chances of transferring 

to another division within BAE Systems, Inc., are zero. 

176. Because of the Defendant's actions, both Relators were denied the benefit of 

working for an honest business, and they experienced the embarrassment ofworking for a 

company that cheated the Government, and they suffered stress, anxiety, and mental 

anguish as the result of threats of being terminated for reporting these violations to the 

United States Government. 

177. The Defendant took, and continues to take actions against both Relators as aforesaid 

in retaliation for their whistle blowing activities, for their contacting Government 
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officials and for their reporting of the Defendants' violations of its Government contracts 

with TACOM and the U.S. Army and its False Claims Act violations. 

178.The Relators were discriminated against in their job performance ratings, in their 

failure to get promoted - or in Matt Paige's instance the threat of being demoted - and 

with the threats of termination made by the Defendant BAE Systems, Inc. by and through 

its officers, agents, and employees, because of lawful acts done by them in the 

furtherance of an action under the False Claims Act, including their participation in the 

investigation of an action under the False Claims Act and their reporting to the United 

States Government the fraudulent actions of the Defendant. 

179.Defendant's actions set forth above violated 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h» and damaged the 

Relators in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, as to tbe FIRST AND SECOND CAUSES OF ACTION, 
RELATORS MATT PAIGE AND JAMES GAMMON on behalf of 
themselves and the United States of America pray: 

a.	 That this Court enter judgment against Defendant in an amount equal to the 

compensatory damages sustained by the United States of America; 

b.	 That this Court enter judgment against the Defendant in an amount equal to 

three times the amount of damages the United States of America has 

sustained, and continues to sustain, because of the Defendant's actions; 

c.	 That this court enter judgment of a civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and 

not more than $10,000 for each action in violation of 31 U.S.c. §3729, and 

the cost of this action, with interest, including the cost to the United States 

Government for its expenses related to this action; 
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d.	 That in the event that the United States of America proceeds with this action, 

the Relators be awarded amounts for disclosing evidence or information to the 

United States upon which this action is based in the amount of not less than 15 

per cent or more than 25 percent of the proceeds of the action or settlement of 

the claim; 

e.	 That in the event that the United States of America does not proceed with this 

action, that the Relators be awarded, in the discretion of the Court, not less 

than 25 percent and not more than 30 per cent of the damages or settlement 

proceeds recovered by the United States of America; 

f.	 That the Relators Matt Paige and James Gannon be awarded all costs incurred, 

including reasonable attomeys fees; 

g.	 That the United States of America and Relators Paige and Gammon receive 

any other relief; both at law or equity, to which they reasonably may be 

entitled. 

WHEREFORE AS TO THE THIRD (RICO) COUNT, THE RELATORS
 
MATT PAIGE AND JAMES GAMMON PRAY THAT:
 

a.This Court enter judgment against Defendant BAE Systems, Inc. in an amount
 

equal to the compensatory damages sustained by the United States of America;
 

b. That said damages awarded to the United States of America be trebled in
 

accordance with 18 U.S.c. §1964(c);
 

c.	 That Relators be awarded all costs incurred, including reasonable attomeys 

fees. 

WHEREFORE, as to the FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION, THE 
RELATORS on their own behalf, pray: 
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a.	 That they be awarded all relief necessary to make them whole, including, but 

not limited to, two times their back pay; 

b.	 Interest on their back pay; 

c.	 Compensation for all special damages sustained, including medical expenses, 

attorneys fees and costs; 

d.	 Compensatory and punitive damages, including personal injury damages for 

pain and suffering and loss of reputation, to which they are entitled pursuant 

to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h); 

e.	 Such other relief as the Court finds appropriate. 

RELATORS MATI PAIGE 
and JAMES GAMMON 

10 F. MURPHY, their Atto 
132 Asylum Avenue 
Hartford Connecticut 06105-6011 
Fed. Bar No. ct00056 
Tel. No. (860) 233-9946 
Fax. No. (860) 523-5065 
e-mail jQhn.murphyI8@comcast.net 

RELATORS DEMAND A TRIAL BY JURY. 
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OHN F. MURPHY 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
 

I hereby certify that I sent via FedEx the foregoing Amended Complaint to each of the 
following: 

Carolyn Bell Harbin, 
Assistant U.S. Attorney for the 
Eastern District ofMichigan 
for 
Terrence Berg, USA 
211 W. Fort Street, Suite 2001 
Detroit, MI 48226. 

and 

Patricia R. Davis 
Assistant Director, Commercial Litigation Branch 
Patrick Henry Building 
601 D. Street N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20044 
for 
Han. Eric Holder 
Attorney General of the United States 
De.fartment of Justice, 
10 & Constitution Avenues, N.W., 
Washington, D.C. 20530 

on this date - the 4th day ofJune, 2009. 

1324 Asylum Avenue 
Hartford, Connecticut 06105-6011 
Fed. Bar No. ct00056 
Tel. No. (860) 233-9946 
Fax. No. (860) 523-5065 
e-mail john.murphy18{Ql.comcast.net 

39
 

2:09-cv-11657-SJM-RSW   Doc # 3   Filed 06/08/09   Pg 39 of 39    Pg ID 74


